### Copyright PCRS-UK - reproduction prohibited

Primary Care Respiratory Journal (2011); 20(1): 23-32



#### **REVIEW**

# Systems for the management of respiratory disease in primary care – an international series: United Kingdom

\*Allison Worth<sup>a</sup>, Hilary Pinnock<sup>a</sup>, Monica Fletcher<sup>b</sup>, Gaylor Hoskins<sup>c</sup>, Mark Levy<sup>a</sup>, Aziz Sheikh<sup>a</sup>

Originally submitted 18th May 2010; revised version received 27th July 2010; accepted 4th August 2010; online 5th November 2010

#### **Abstract**

**Introduction:** The UK National Health Service (NHS) is essentially publicly funded through general taxation. Challenges facing the NHS include the rise in prevalence of long-term conditions and financial pressures.

**National policy trends:** Political devolution within the UK has led to variations in the way services are organised and delivered between the four nations.

**Primary care respiratory services in the UK:** Primary care is the first point of contact with services. Most respiratory conditions are managed here, including prevention, diagnosis, treatment and palliative care.

**Epidemiology:** Respiratory disease accounts for more primary care consultations than any other type of illness, with 24 million consultations annually.

Access to care: Equitable access to care is an ongoing challenge, telehealthcare is being tried as a possible solution for monitoring of asthma and COPD.

**Referral and access to specialist care:** Referrals for specialist advice are usually to a secondary care respiratory physician, though respiratory General Practitioners with a Special Interest (GPwSIs) are an option in some localities.

**Conclusions:** Prevalence of asthma and COPD is high. Asthma services are predominantly nurse-led. Self-management strategies are widely promoted but poorly implemented. COPD is high on the policy agenda with a shift in focus to preventive lung health and long-term condition management.

© 2011 Primary Care Respiratory Society UK. All rights reserved.

A Worth et al. Prim Care Respir J 2011; 20(1): 23-32

doi:10.4104/pcrj.2010.00070

Keywords United Kingdom, respiratory disease, primary care, management, systems, policy, funding

#### **Contents**

Background	24
Introduction	24
The organisation of health services	24
Challenges for the next 60 years	25
Primary care respiratory services in the UK	
Prevention	
Guidelines and management pathways	26
Diagnosis and disease registers	
Self-care	26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Allergy & Respiratory Research Group, Centre for Population Health Sciences: General Practice Section, The University of Edinburgh, Scotland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Education for Health, Warwick, United Kingdom

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Division of Clinical & Population Sciences & Education, University of Dundee, Scotland

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author: Dr Allison Worth, Allergy & Respiratory Research Group, Centre for Population Health Sciences: GP Section, The University of Edinburgh, Doorway 3, Medical School, Teviot Place, Edinburgh, EH8 9AG, United Kingdom.

Tel: +44 (0)131 650 9463 Fax: +44 (0)131 650 9119 E-mail: allison.worth@ed.ac.uk

#### A Worth et al.

Regular review	27
Palliative care	27
pidemiology of respiratory disease in the UK	
Access to care	
acilities in primary care	28
Professional organisations	
Referral and access to specialist care	29
Conclusions	29
References	30

#### **Background**

This paper on the current provision of primary care services for patients with respiratory disease in the United Kingdom (UK) is the fifth in a planned series of international reviews. In keeping with the aims and objectives of the Primary Care Respiratory Journal, the editors commissioned this series of papers to enable clinicians and health service managers to compare and learn from different systems of primary care management for patients with respiratory disease around the world. Each of the papers in the series so far (see Box 1) follows a similar format, and includes information on national policy and models, epidemiology, access to care, facilities available, and future developments. By summarising and comparing how different countries provide primary care for patients with respiratory disease we hope to stimulate debate and inform the future development of policies aimed at improving the care worldwide for people with respiratory disease.

## Box 1: *PCRJ* series on the management of primary care respiratory disease throughout the world: papers to date.

Beilby J, Williams S, Levy ML. Systems for the management of primary care respiratory disease throughout the world (Editorial). *Prim Care Respir J* 2008;**17**(1):5-6

Glasgow N. Systems for the management of respiratory disease in primary care – an international series: Australia. *Prim Care Respir J* 2008;**17**(1):19-25

Kaplan A. Systems for the management of respiratory disease in primary care – an international series: Canada. *Prim Care Respir J* 2008;**17**(2):73-8

Yusuf MO. Systems for the management of respiratory disease in primary care – an international series: Pakistan. *Prim Care Respir J* 2009;**18**(1): 3-9

Bateman E, Feldman C, Mash R, Fairall L, English R, Jithoo A. Systems for the management of respiratory disease in primary care – an international series: South Africa. *Prim Care Respir J* 2009;**18**(2): 69-75

Worth A, Pinnock H, Fletcher M, Hoskins G, Levy ML, Sheikh A. Systems for the management of respiratory disease in primary care – an international series: United Kingdom. *Prim Care Respir J* 2011;**20**(1): 23-32

#### Introduction

The UK's National Health Service (NHS) was established in 1948 as a publicly funded healthcare system to provide comprehensive healthcare services free to the entire population at the point of delivery. Historically, funding has mainly come from general taxation and this remains largely the case, although some personal charges, including prescription charges, were introduced in the 1950s. As with all healthcare systems, demographic changes, technical advances, and financial constraints are putting increasing pressure on services. Ways of making healthcare more cost-effective and efficient are thus a constant government preoccupation. Proceedings of the provided constraints are putting increasing pressure on services.

#### The organisation of health services

A founding concept of the NHS was that all people in the UK should be registered with a general practitioner (GP or 'Family Doctor') close to their home who was responsible for providing, or arranging for others to provide, all patients' healthcare needs.<sup>3</sup> By contrast, specialists were hospital-based, receiving referrals from, and reporting back to, the patient's own GP, who held the patient's complete medical record. This core division of services remains, though arrangements have become more complex in recent years with the development of new roles (e.g. specialist nurses, GPs with a Special Interest (GPwSIs), community-based specialists),<sup>4</sup> and in response to the expectations of an increasingly mobile, 24-hour a day society. In general, public satisfaction with their GP and general practice remains high.<sup>5,6</sup>

GPs have traditionally been self-employed, working in partnerships and contracting their services to the NHS, though recent changes have allowed the employment of salaried GPs and the development of diverse arrangements either to address the needs of specific communities (e.g. the homeless) or in under-doctored areas. Most practices employ practice nurses and/or nurse practitioners, so that multidisciplinary working is now the norm. In a recent initiative, large primary care facilities ('polyclinics') offering many of the diagnostic and out-patient services traditionally provided in secondary care are being actively promoted.<sup>7</sup> These are not always welcomed as they may compete with local general practices.<sup>8,9</sup>

Respiratory disease in primary care: UK

Primary care, though no longer exclusively provided by GPs, remains the first point of contact with most NHS services. Nurse practitioners may provide minor illness services within primary care practices, and minor injury units are run in some large practices or community hospitals. In England and Wales, 'walk-in centres' (which are normally nurse-led) are sited in major cities to provide a convenient open access option – for example, for people away from home and those not registered with a permanent GP. Since the introduction of the new General Medical Services (GMS) Contract in 2004, 10 out-of-hours responsibility has been transferred to locally run 'Out-of-Hours' services sometimes operated in partnership with the telephone-and Internet-based services NHS Direct (England), 11 Galw IECHYD Cymru (Wales), 12 and NHS24 (Scotland). 13

The concept of a UK-wide NHS is now outmoded. Since political devolution in 1999, health policy in the four nations (England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland) has diverged (see Table 1), reflecting different political, philosophical and demographic conditions.<sup>14</sup> NHS England, driven by Government targets and financial incentives, has pursued the internal market in which performance-managed contracts are commissioned from an increasing range of private and public provider organisations. 14,15 The recently elected Government's White Paper on health in England proposes giving more power and responsibility for commissioning services to local consortia of GP practices. 16 NHS Scotland and Wales have in contrast promoted a more collaborative approach, engaging clinicians in decisions about resource allocation. 14,15 Some differences (such as abolition of prescription charges in Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland) have led to well publicised anomalies, especially in border areas.<sup>17</sup> Scotland, unlike the rest of the UK, has in recent years promoted the development of Managed Clinical Networks (MCNs), and most Scottish health authorities now have a respiratory MCN

with multi-professional, multi-disciplinary and multi-agency representation to co-ordinate, develop and support integrated care across service and professional boundaries.

#### Challenges for the next 60 years

The 60th anniversary of the NHS in 2008 occasioned much reflection on its achievements and failures, and speculation regarding the next 60 years. The general consensus appears to be that there are aspects to be celebrated – including primary care services – particularly in comparison to other healthcare systems. Despite the different policies between the four nations, many overarching challenges remain and these are summarised in Box 2.

#### Box 2: Current challenges facing the NHS.

- Reducing the persistent inequalities in health and access to health care. 18,19
- Reducing variations in the quality of care.20
- Improving quality, increasing adherence to evidence-based guidelines, and reducing variability in service provision.<sup>7</sup>
- The ageing population and the consequent increase in long-term medical conditions and co-morbidity.<sup>21,22</sup>
- Shifting the focus of service delivery from the traditional sectors to the provision of care packages that integrate care across primary, secondary, tertiary and social care sectors.<sup>23</sup>
- Integrating care for patients with multiple co-morbid conditions.<sup>24</sup>
- The potential impact of climate change on respiratory health.<sup>25</sup>
- Continual political and financial pressures with cost containment.<sup>26</sup>
- An ageing health professional workforce.
- Reform fatigue among staff. 20
- Reducing the current budget deficit without affecting healthcare.

	England	Wales	Scotland	N Ireland
Population (millions)	50	3	5	1.7
Organisational characteristics				
Provider markets, patient choice, pluralism in delivery and providers paid by activity	From 2006	No	No	No
Integration of health and social services	No	No	No	Yes
Commitment to election for local NHS governing bodies	No	No	Yes (in 2007 but not yet implemented)	No
Performance regimes				
Targets for waiting times	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Annual public reporting of performance in a system of 'naming and shaming'	By star ratings from 2001-2005	No	No	No
Charges and entitlements				
Free personal care services for the over 65s	No	No	Yes	Yes
Free prescriptions	No	Yes	To be implemented	To be implemented

Key policy trends underpinning current development in the NHS in response to these challenges include:

- Developing new competencies and different skill sets to deliver more complex models of care;<sup>27</sup> community nurse and pharmacist roles in respiratory care are notable developments
- More flexible working patterns
- Greater use of information technology such as telemedicine, Internet information provision, use of telephone and email consultations <sup>28-32</sup>
- Shifting services from secondary to primary care i.e. 'closer to the patient',<sup>33</sup> offering patients information to enable them to choose between available treatments, and where and from whom they receive services,<sup>34</sup> involving the patient not only in their own care but also in the design of local services.<sup>16,33</sup>

#### Primary care respiratory services in the UK

Primary care is at the forefront of the NHS response to the global challenge of providing care for an ageing population with an increasing burden of long-term conditions.35 The 2004 GMS contract introduced an innovative 'Pay for Performance' scheme, the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF). This rewards general practices that achieve targets set over a wide range of clinical indicators by providing financial incentives to encourage accurate diagnosis, maintenance of disease registers and proactive care of people with long-term conditions.<sup>36</sup> Of the 1,050 points available, 35 are allocated to asthma indicators and 30 to COPD with additional generic points for providing smoking cessation advice. Approximately 20% of general practice income is linked to QOF.9 Payments are related to prevalence as well as performance, but a typical GP's gross income increased by £23,000 in the first year of the QOF, though the costs of providing the additional services were borne by the practitioner.<sup>37</sup> Examples from respiratory care include confirmation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) with spirometry, and annual reviews for people with asthma (see Table 2). Analysis of the QOF submissions suggests that this has improved the process of care. 37,38 The present focus of QOF is on indicators that also reflect improved outcomes.<sup>39</sup>

As a major cause of hospital admissions, respiratory disease (specifically COPD) is seen as a priority for the NHS. In England, the publication of a National Strategy sets out for the first time quality standards for COPD services, as well as highlighting key issues for asthma care.<sup>40</sup> A similar document has recently been published in Scotland by NHS Quality Improvement Scotland (OIS).<sup>41</sup>

#### **Prevention**

The proportion of people who smoke in the UK is declining. It is estimated that in 2006/2007, 22% of the population smoked.<sup>42</sup> More than twice as many patients in deprived areas

smoke as those in affluent areas, and smoking rates in younger adults are also concerning.<sup>42</sup> The new COPD strategy for England<sup>40</sup> emphasises 'improving lung health' both through addressing nicotine dependence and targeting specific prevention strategies at high risk groups. The provision of a national network of smoking cessation services is a priority for the NHS throughout the UK, with a range of resources including one-to-one and group counselling, national quit lines, and availability of pharmacological treatments.<sup>43</sup> The QOF rewards primary healthcare professionals for recording smoking status annually, offering brief advice, and facilitating access to smoking cessation services. Recent changes to the contract of community pharmacists will reward their greater involvement in assessment, education and advice for respiratory patients.

#### **Guidelines and management pathways**

The UK has a long history of internationally recognised guideline development since the first British Thoracic Society (BTS) asthma guideline was published in 1990. The Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network (SIGN) (which now coproduces the British asthma guideline with the BTS44) was amongst the earliest groups to use a rigorous, evidencebased, guideline development process.<sup>45</sup> More recently, the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) in England has adopted a similar methodology in their development of COPD guidelines, 46 though they also include a cost-effectiveness analysis as part of a drive to reduce the informal rationing and geographical variations in availability of treatments and services that was a particular concern in the late 1990s. 47 Launched in 2009. NHS Evidence is a search engine which enables everyone working in health and social care to identify and access a wide range of health information.48 'Map of Medicine' (available from www.mapofmedicine.com) is an electronic visualisation of evidence-based pathways for common and important conditions (including asthma and COPD), designed as a resource for clinicians and those developing care in England and Wales.

#### Diagnosis and disease registers

All primary care practices in the UK maintain computerised disease registers. Inclusion of lung function as an indicator in the QOF has resulted in a rapid rise in the number of primary care practices offering spirometry<sup>49</sup> such that about 90% of people on general practice COPD registers have now had their diagnosis confirmed with spirometry.<sup>50-53</sup>

#### Self-care

Supported self-management for people with long-term conditions in the UK has been described as less effective than in other countries.<sup>54</sup> It remains, however, a key policy directive. By 2011, as part of the drive to facilitate self-care, it is intended that all people with long-term conditions in England

#### Table 2. QOF indicators for respiratory disorders.

Points are awarded for achieving the listed indicators (staged in the case of proportional indicators) which are rewarded by payments adjusted to account for the practice disease prevalence. Patients can be reported as 'exceptions' for clinical reasons (such as terminal illness or if an intervention were contra-indicated) or if a patient declines care (e.g. does not respond to three invitations to attend a review)

Indicator	Points	Payment stages
Asthma		
<b>Records</b> ASTHMA 1. The practice can produce a register of patients with asthma, excluding patients with asthma who have been prescribed no asthma-related drugs in the previous twelve months	4	
Initial Management ASTHMA 8. The percentage of patients aged eight and overdiagnosed as having asthma from 1 April 2006 with measures of variability or reversibility	15	40-80%
Ongoing management ASTHMA 3. The percentage of patients with asthma between the ages of 14 and 19 in whom there is a record of smoking status in the previous 15 months ASTHMA 6. The percentage of patients with asthma who have had an asthma review in the previous 15 months	6	40-80% 40-70%
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease	20	40-7070
Records	+	
COPD 1. The practice can produce a register of patients with COPD	3	
Initial Management  COPD 12. The percentage of all patients with COPD diagnosed after 1.4.08 in whom the diagnosis has been confirmed by post bronchodilator spirometry.	5	40-80%
Ongoing management  COPD 10. The percentage of patients with COPD with a record of FEV <sub>1</sub> in the previous 15 months  COPD 13. The percentage of patients with COPD who have had a review, undertaken by a healthcare  professional, including an assessment of breathlessness using the MRC dyspnoea score in the previous 15 months  COPD 8. The percentage of patients with COPD who have had influenza immunisation in the preceding	7 9	40-70% 50-90% 40-85
1 September to 31 March		10 05
Smoking indicators		
Smoking 3: The percentage of patients with any or any combination of the following conditions: coronary heart disease, stroke or TIA, hypertension, diabetes, COPD, CKD, asthma, schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder or other psychoses whose notes record smoking status in the previous 15 months.	30	40-90%
Smoking 4: The percentage of patients with any or any combination of the following conditions: coronary heart disease, stroke or TIA, hypertension, diabetes, COPD, CKD, asthma, schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder or other psychoses who smoke whose notes contain a record that smoking cessation advice or referral to a specialist service, where available, has been offered within the previous 15 months	30	40-90%
Palliative care indicators		
PC 3. The practice has a complete register available of 3 all patients in need of palliative care/support irrespective of age	3	
PC 2. The practice has regular (at least 3 monthly) 3 multidisciplinary case review meetings where all patients on the palliative care register are discussed	3	

will have a Personalised Care Plan (PCP).<sup>55</sup> In the context of asthma, this plan will focus on evidence-based 'action plans'.<sup>56</sup> In the more complex scenario of severe COPD, action plans for self-management of exacerbations will be supplemented by information about multidisciplinary clinical and social services.<sup>40,57</sup> This 'drive to facilitate self care' extends to other parts of the UK, but unlike in England, there are no similar targets relating to care plans in Scotland. Patient organisations (e.g. Asthma UK www.asthma.org.uk and the British Lung Foundation www.lunguk.org) are important sources of information for patients (including Asthma Action Plans and COPD self-

management resources) as are local support groups (e.g. Breath Easy Groups, which are voluntary peer groups supported by the UK charity the British Lung Foundation).

#### Regular review

The QOF rewards primary care practices financially for performing annual reviews for people with asthma and COPD.<sup>10</sup> In the case of asthma the requirement is for a single coded entry for an 'asthma review', though the QOF guidance documentation details the specific functions (such as assessing control, checking inhaler technique and providing selfmanagement advice) that the assessors who visit practices

annually to verify performance might look for to substantiate claims. Although this approach has been criticised as a 'tick box' exercise, there is evidence that the process has facilitated proactive care with the potential to improve outcomes.<sup>37,38</sup> The introduction of the Medical Research Council's Dyspnoea Score as a requirement for the annual COPD review represents a step towards targeting outcome rather than process measures.

#### Palliative care

Extending palliative care services to people dying with non-malignant conditions is a UK-wide priority,<sup>58</sup> and there is considerable interest in how current services may be adapted to meet the needs of people with very severe COPD.<sup>40</sup> The pivotal role of primary care in providing care for people with long-term conditions suggests that GPs and community nurses will continue to have a significant role in provision of supportive end-of-life care,<sup>35</sup> supported by education and advice from specialist palliative care teams.

# **Epidemiology of respiratory disease in the UK**

In the UK, respiratory disease accounts for more primary care consultations than any other type of illness: there are 24 million respiratory consultations and 51 million prescriptions issued annually.<sup>59</sup>

Approximately one person in nine in the UK has been diagnosed with asthma. <sup>60</sup> Prevalence from QOF submissions of 'active asthma' (i.e. people with a diagnosis of asthma who have had a prescription for an asthma medication in the previous year) has remained fairly constant at 5.8%, though, unusually for disease registers, this is a 'fluid' population: one large practice reported a 20% turnover over in a year as patients with an asthma diagnosis became, or ceased to be, 'active' as a result of the variability of the condition. <sup>32</sup>

Prevalence of COPD varies according to deprivation status, but an average of 1.5% of the population are registered as having COPD in England.<sup>51-53,61</sup> Most diagnosed COPD patients have severe or very severe COPD according to the 2010 NICE classification<sup>46</sup> (which now categorises COPD in line with international guidelines<sup>62</sup>), leading to calls for screening or casefinding to identify the 'missing millions' with milder disease.<sup>40</sup>

The annual incidence of community acquired pneumonia is 5-11 per 1000 adult population, though this is less than 10% of the lower respiratory tract infections managed by GPs.<sup>63</sup> The incidence of pulmonary tuberculosis has increased over the last decade, the majority of cases occurring in migrants from the Indian sub-continent and sub-Saharan Africa, the immunocompromised and homeless people.<sup>64</sup>

#### Access to care

People with respiratory long-term conditions value flexible access to a known and trusted professional who can provide,

or co-ordinate, care on behalf of themselves and their family carers. <sup>65</sup> Traditionally this was the role of GPs, but the need to develop proactive care for people with long-term conditions has stimulated the evolution of a broad range of primary care professionals to provide, or support chronic, ongoing respiratory care.

The primary care contracts, which remunerate practices for both the quality and activity they undertake, have encouraged GPs to delegate the management of long-term medical conditions to appropriately trained nurses. In the UK, most patients with airways diseases are therefore managed in primary care by practice nurses working in partnership with their GP colleagues. The growth in pro-active care in the last 20 years may have contributed to the observed reduction in unscheduled appointments for asthma, <sup>66</sup> though the more recent plateauing of death rates remains a concern. <sup>67</sup>

New technologies are offering innovative approaches to the challenge of providing access to care. 68-70 Telephone reviews for asthma are an established option, 26,27,39 and the potential for mobile technology in monitoring patients with asthma is being explored. 71,72 Tele-monitoring is being introduced as a means of reducing COPD admissions, though trials of this approach are still on-going. 73

#### Facilities in primary care

Common respiratory conditions can and should be managed predominantly in primary care, including prevention, diagnosis, treatment and palliative care. 74 People with asthma are more likely to have their condition managed in primary care in the UK than in most other countries.75 The QOF supports this approach by providing financial rewards that have enabled most UK practices to invest in spirometers, though there is concern that this initiative is not supported by adequate staff training. For example, a national survey revealed that only 12% of nurses undertaking spirometry had undertaken accredited training and fewer than half (49%) of those diagnosing and managing COPD had undertaken specialist training.76 The recently published standards for diagnostic spirometry in primary care emphasise the importance of appropriately calibrated and serviced equipment, operated safely by trained professionals with accredited and maintained skills, and correctly interpreted by healthcare professionals.49

Most patients with allergies are managed in primary care, and access to specialist services is limited. A recent survey of GPs found that only 9% had received allergy training.<sup>77</sup> Allergy testing, essential to accurate diagnosis and treatment, is rarely conducted in primary care: skin prick testing is only rarely available<sup>77</sup> and specific IgE testing although widely available is rarely used. Practices have open access to blood tests and radiology services, oximetry is increasingly available, but in some

Respiratory disease in primary care: UK

areas investigations such as CT or MRI scanning may require specialist referral.

#### **Professional organisations**

The UK clinical and academic communities have considerable interests in collaborative ventures to promote respiratory care.

The Primary Care Respiratory Society UK (PCRS-UK) (formerly known as the General Practice Airways Group - GPIAG) was formed in 1987 and has been a driving force, both locally and nationally, in the development of respiratory care in the community, primarily in the UK, but also abroad.78 The PCRS-UK represents primary care health professionals interested in delivering the best standards of respiratory care though research, education and influencing policy. The group is one of the founding members of the International Primary Care Respiratory Group (IPCRG), which supports international efforts to develop research, education and clinical care in respiratory disease. A range of practical resources is available on the organisation's web-site (www.pcrs-uk.org), and the PCRS-UK's peer reviewed journal, the Primary Care Respiratory Journal (www.thepcrj.com), is one of a very few primary care speciality journals listed on PubMed.

IMPRESS is a clinician-led joint venture between the BTS and PCRS-UK, which maintains a website targeted at commissioners of health care, managers and clinicians who wish to develop high quality patient-centred respiratory services, integrated between primary and secondary care (www.impressresp.com/).

The Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP) has recently prioritised respiratory and allergy care, with the appointment of respiratory and allergy Clinical Champions. The scheme aims to support implementation of the National Strategy for COPD, drive rapid uptake of the new guidelines, and encourage Primary Care Organisations (PCOs) to take action to improve allergy services locally. Quality markers of respiratory care in general practice are being developed.

The UK Respiratory Research Collaborative (UKRRC) was launched in 2006 to promote research in respiratory care. (www.brit-thoracic.org.uk/research/ukrrc.aspx). It has primary care representation and has prioritised areas pertinent to primary care, including investigating the best care and treatment strategies for asthma and COPD.<sup>79</sup> A range of primary care academic departments have particular interest in respiratory disease, including the Universities of Edinburgh (allergy and respiratory research), Aberdeen (primary care respiratory medicine), Cardiff (respiratory infections), Queen Mary, University of London (respiratory health (including TB) in ethnic groups) and Peninsula Medical School (COPD and community-based pulmonary rehabilitation).<sup>80</sup>

Educational support for health professionals is available from independent charities such as Education for Health (www.educationforhealth.org) and Respiratory Education UK (www.respiratoryeduk.com). These organisations offer distance,

blended and e-learning modules in the prevention, early diagnosis, appropriate treatment and effective management of respiratory diseases from paediatric to end-of-life care.

#### Referral and access to specialist care

UK political initiatives such as 'care closer to home', the 'choice' agenda (which ostensibly offers patients the opportunity to choose where they go for specialist care), target waiting times, financial constraints, and new professional roles, have all influenced traditional referral arrangements, though access to secondary care still requires a referral from a primary care clinician (usually the GP). Referrals for specialist advice can be to a secondary care respiratory physician, or in some localities (mainly in England) respiratory GPwSIs are providing community-based referral services for specific conditions such as COPD or asthma.81-84 Although the formal accreditation process (normally based on a portfolio of professional training and experience) addresses the governance requirements for the delivery of a clinical service, 85 many GPwSIs also have an important strategic and training role within their locality.<sup>27</sup> In 2006, 38% of PCOs had, or were considering developing, a respiratory GPwSI service.81

As part of the National Programme for IT, patients in England are now able to 'Choose and Book' their own specialist appointments, <sup>86</sup> taking into account their personal preferences as well as information about referral options. <sup>87</sup> This initiative has attracted diverse views from professionals who generally welcome the principle of patients booking their own appointments, but who have expressed concern about the usability of the system. <sup>88</sup> However, the recent White Paper in England <sup>16</sup> sets out the intention to extend the Choose and Book system, which in some areas includes the addition of 'Referral Management Systems' whereby GPs and nurses triage referrals to specialists, either accepting, diverting them to a more appropriate service or returning them to the GP.

Although most areas of the UK have a pulmonary rehabilitation service, <sup>89</sup> in many localities provision is inadequate <sup>90</sup> and there is growing interest in developing cost-efficient community-based services. The increasing complexity of services, with professionals adopting new specialist roles and providing services in new ways has increased the challenge of ensuring integrated care for the individual patient. <sup>27</sup>

#### Conclusions

Primary care services in the UK remain highly valued by patients. Care for patients with asthma, COPD and respiratory infections constitute a large proportion of primary care activity in the UK, where prevalence of these conditions is notably high. Organisation of asthma services has been transformed in recent years by the development of proactive nurse-led care. Despite widespread promotion of self-management strategies,

implementation has been limited. The prominence of COPD on the policy agenda promotes an increasing shift in focus to a more proactive, preventive lung health strategy and long-term condition management. The recent formation of a coalition government following the general election in the UK, together with the unprecedented budgetary deficit and plans to shift much of the long-term care of patients into the community, has already given rise to proposals which will radically change primary care provision of healthcare in the future.

#### Conflict of interest declaration

AW. HP. MF. GH have no conflicts of interest to declare.

MLL is the Editor Emeritus of, AS is Joint Editor-in-Chief of, and HP is an Associate Editor of, the *PCRJ*. They were not involved in the editorial review of, nor the decision to publish, this article.

#### **References**

- Delamothe T. A centrally funded health service, free at the point of delivery. BMJ 2008;336:1410-12.
- 2. Delamothe T. NHS at 60: A comprehensive service. BMJ 2008;336:1344-5.
- Rivett G. From Cradle to Grave. 50 years of the NHS. London: The King's Fund, 1998
- Sibbald B, Shen J, McBride A. Changing the skill-mix of the health care workforce. J Health Serv Res Policy 2004;9(S1):28-38. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1258/135581904322724112
- Department of Health. The GP Patient Survey. http://www.gppatient.co.uk/results/ Accessed 28 April 2010
- Picker Institute. The Key Findings Report For The 2008 National Survey Of Local Health Services. Oxford: The Picker Institute Europe, 2008.
- Department of Health. High Quality Care For All: NHS Next Stage Review, final report. London: The Stationery Office, 2008.
- O'Dowd A. Darzi's five pledges fail to quell doctors' anxieties about polyclinics.
   BMJ 2008;336:1090. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.39577.649502.DB
- Sheaff R. Medicine and Management in English Primary Care: A Shifting Balance of Power? *Jnl Soc Pol* 2009;38:627-47. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1017/S0047279409990183
- NHS Confederation, British Medical Association. New GMS Contract 2003: investing in general practice. London: 2003
- National Health Service. NHS Direct. Available from http://www.nhsdirect.nhs.uk Accessed 23 March 2010
- NHS Wales. NHS Direct Wales: Galw IECHYD Cymru. Available from http://www.nhsdirect.wales.nhs.uk Accessed 23 March 2010
- NHS Scotland. NHS 24. Available from http://www.nhs24.com Accessed 23 March 2010
- Connolly S, Mays N, Bevan G. Funding and performance of healthcare systems in the four countries of the UK before and after devolution. London: The Nuffield Trust, 2010.
- 15. Delamothe T. NHS at 60: A fairly happy birthday. BMJ 2008;337:25-29.
- Department of Health. Equity and Excellence: Liberating the NHS. London: The Stationery Office, 2010.
- BBC News. NI to scrap prescription charges. Available from http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/northern\_ireland/7641637.stm Accessed 24 March 2010.
- The Marmot Review. Fair Society, Healthy Lives. 2010. Available from http://www.ucl.ac.uk/gheg/marmotreview/FairSocietyHealthyLivesExecSummar y Accessed 24 March 2010.
- Netuveli G, Hurwitz B, Levy M, et al. Ethnic variations in UK asthma frequency, morbidity, and health-service use: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2005;365:312-17.

- Leatherman S, Sutherland K. The quest for quality: refining the NHS reforms.
   London: The Nuffield Trust, 2008
- Department of Health. Improving chronic disease management. 2004.
   Available from http://www.dh.gov.uk Accessed 24 March 2010
- Scottish Executive. Building a Health Service Fit for the Future. Edinburgh 2005.
   Available from http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications Accessed 24 March 2010
- Department of Health. Supporting people with long term conditions: an NHS and social care model to support local innovation and integration. London, 2005
- 24. Wright N, Smeeth L, Heath I. Moving beyond single and dual diagnosis in general practice. *BMJ* 2003;**326**:512.
- D'Amato G, Cecchi L. Effects of climate change on environmental factors in respiratory allergic diseases. Clin Exp Allergy 2008;38:1264-74. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2222.2008.03033.x
- Appleby J, Crawford R, Emmerson C. How cold will it be? Prospects for NHS funding: 2011–17. London: King's Fund, 2009
- 27. Pinnock H, Huby G, Powell A, et al. The process of planning, development and implementation of a General Practitioner with a Special Interest service in Primary Care Organisations in England and Wales: a comparative prospective case study. Report for the NHS Service Delivery and Organisation R&D Programme. London, 2008.
- Car J, Sheikh A. Email consultations in health care: 1- scope and effectiveness. BMJ 2004;329:435-8.
- Car J, Sheikh A. Email consultations in health care: 2 acceptability and safe application. BMJ 2004;329:439-42.
- 30. Car J, Sheikh A. Telephone consultations. BMJ 2003;326:966-9.
- Pinnock H, Bawden R, Proctor S, et al. Accessibility, acceptability, and effectiveness in primary care of routine telephone review of asthma: pragmatic, randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2003;326:477-9.
- Pinnock H, Adlem L, Gaskin S, Harris J, Snellgrove C, Sheikh A. Accessibility, clinical effectiveness, and practice costs of providing a telephone option for routine asthma reviews: phase IV controlled implementation study. Br J Gen Pract 2007;57:714-22.
- 33. Secretary of State for Health. Our health, our care, our say: a new direction for community services. London: The Stationery Office, 2006.
- National Health Service. NHS Choices. Available from http://www.nhs.uk/Pages/HomePage.aspx Accessed 23 March 2010
- Royal College of General Practitioners. Leading the Way: High Quality Care For All Through General Practice. London: RCGP, 2010
- Roland M. Linking Physicians' Pay to the Quality of Care A Major Experiment in the United Kingdom. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1448-54. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMhpr041294
- Doran T, Fullwood C, Gravelle H, et al. Pay-for-Performance Programs in Family Practices in the United Kingdom. N Engl J Med 2006;355:375-84. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa055505
- Campbell S, Reeves D, Kontopantelis E, Middleton E, Sibbald B, Roland M. Quality of Primary Care in England with the Introduction of Pay for Performance. N Engl J Med 2007;357:181-90. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMsr065990
- Department of Health. Quality and Outcomes Framework: New independent and transparent process. London: DoH, 2008
- Department of Health. Consultation on a Strategy for Services for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) in England. London: DoH, 2010
- NHS Quality Improvement Scotland. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Services - Clinical Standards and Evaluation. Edinburgh, 2010. Available from http://www.nhshealthquality.org/nhsqis/controller?p\_service=Content.show&p\_applic=CCC&pContentID=7648 Accessed 6 April 2010
- Simpson CR, Hippisley-Cox J, Sheikh A. Trends in the epidemiology of smoking recorded in UK general practice. Br J Gen Pract 2010;60(572):e121-7.

- doi:10.3399/bjgp10X483544
- 43. Department of Health. NHS Stop Smoking Services: service and monitoring guidance 2010/2011. London: DH, 2009.
- 44. The British Thoracic Society / Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network. British Guideline on the management of asthma. *Thorax* 2008;63(Suppl IV): iv1-iv121 Updated annually and available on http://www.brit-thoracic.org.uk and http://www.siqn.ac.uk. doi:10.1136/thx.2008.097741
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network. SIGN 50: A guideline developer's handbook. Edinburgh: SIGN, 2008. http://www.sign.ac.uk Accessed 20 March 2010
- 46. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. National Clinical Guideline Centre. (2010). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in adults in primary and secondary care London: National Clinical Guideline Centre. www.nice.org.uk/CG101
- 47. Delamothe T NHS at 60: Universality, equity and quality of care. *BMJ* 2008; **336**:1278-81.
- National Health Service. About NHS evidence. http://www.evidence.nhs.uk/aboutus/Pages/AboutNHSEvidence.aspx
- Levy ML, Quanjer PH, Booker R, et al. Diagnostic Spirometry in Primary Care. Proposed standards for general practice compliant with American Thoracic Society and European Respiratory Society Recommendations. Prim Care Resp J 2009;18:130-47. http://dx.doi.org/10.4104/pcrj.2009.00054
- 50. The Information Centre. Quality and Outcome Framework http://www.ic.nhs.uk http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/ audits-and-performance/the-quality-and-outcomes-framework
- Scottish Health Statistics. Quality and Outcomes Framework. http://www.isdscotland.org/isd/3305.html
- NHS Wales. Quality and Outcomes Framework. http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/page.cfm?orgid=480&pid=6063
- Department of Health Social Services and Public Safety. Quality and Outcomes Framework. http://www.dhsspsni.gov.uk/index/hss/gp\_contracts/ gp\_contract\_qof.htm
- 54. Picker Institute. Engaging patients in their healthcare. How is the UK doing relative to other countries? Oxford: Picker Institute Europe, 2006.
- Powell H, Gibson PG. Options for self-management education for adults with asthma. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2002, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD004107. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004107
- Effing T, Monninkhof EEM, van der Valk PP, et al. Self-management education for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2007, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD002990. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD002990.pub2
- 58. NHS End-of-Life Care programme. The Gold Standards Framework. A programme for community palliative care. Available from http://www.goldstandardsframework.nhs.uk
- British Thoracic Society. Burden of Lung Disease 2nd Edition. London: BTS, 2006
- Simpson CR, Sheikh A. Trends in the epidemiology of asthma in England: a national study of 333,294 patients. J R Soc Med 2010;103:98-106. http://dx.doi.org/10.1258/jrsm.2009.090348
- Simpson CR, Hippisley-Cox J, Sheikh A. Trends in the epidemiology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in England: a national study of 51,804 patients. Br J Gen Pract 2010;60:483-8. http://dx.doi.org/10.3399/bjqp10X514729
- Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD), Global strategy for diagnosis, management, and prevention of COPD: updated 2009.
   Available from: www.goldcopd.com Accessed 26 February 2010
- 63. Levy ML, Le Jeune I, Woodhead MA, Macfarlane JT, Lim WS, on behalf of the British Thoracic Society Community Acquired Pneumonia in Adults Guideline

- Group. Primary care summary of the British Thoracic Society Guidelines for the management of community acquired pneumonia in adults: 2009 update. *Prim Care Resp J* 2010; **19**:21-7. http://dx.doi.org/10.4104/pcrj.2010.00014
- Health Protection Agency. Tuberculosis in the UK. Annual report on tuberculosis surveillance and control in the UK 2009. Available from http://www.hpa.org.uk Accessed 23 March 2010
- Kielmann T, Huby G, Powell A, et al. From support to boundary: a qualitative study of the border between self care and professional care. Pat Ed Counsel 2010;79:55-61. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2009.07.015
- Fleming DM, Sunderland R, Cross KW, Ross AM. Declining incidence of episodes of asthma: a study of trends in new episodes presenting to general practitioners in the period 1989-98. *Thorax* 2000;55:657-61. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/thorax.55.8.657
- Lung and Asthma Information Agency. Age-specific mortality rates for asthma, England & Wales, 1955-2004. http://www.laia.ac.uk/asthma/ mort\_age5504.htm Accessed 14 July 2010
- McKinstry B, Pinnock H, Sheikh A. Telemedicine for management of patients with COPD? Lancet 2009;374:672-3. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61542-7
- Catwell L, Sheikh A. Information technology (IT) system users must be allowed to decide on the future direction of major national IT initiatives. *Informatics in Primary Care* 2009; 17(1):1-4.
- Catwell L, Sheikh A. Evaluating eHealth interventions: The need for continuous systemic evaluation. PLoS Medicine 2009;6:8:e1000126.
- 71. Pinnock H, Slack R, Pagliari C, Price D, Sheikh A. Understanding the potential role of mobile phone based monitoring on asthma self-management: qualitative study. Clin Exp Allergy 2007;**3**:794-802. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2222.2007.02708.x
- Ryan D, Pinnock H, Lee AJ, et al. The CYMPLA trial Mobile phone-based structured intervention to achieve asthma control in patients with uncontrolled persistent asthma: pragmatic randomised controlled trial. Prim Care Resp J 2009;18:343-5. http://dx.doi.org/10.4104/pcrj.2009.00064
- Pinnock H, Hanley J, Lewis S, et al. The impact of a telemetric chronic obstructive pulmonary disease monitoring service: randomised controlled trial with economic evaluation and nested qualitative study. Prim Care Resp J 2009; 18: 233-5. http://dx.doi.org/10.4104/pcrj.2009.00040
- Fletcher M. The burden of respiratory disease. In Respiratory Problems in Primary Care. A guide for new GPs. Booker R, Fletcher M, Gregory S, Holmes S. eds. London: Royal College of General Practitioners, 2009
- 75. Roberts N, Papageorgiou P, Partridge M. Delivery of Asthma and Allergy Care in Europe. *J Asthma* 2009;**46**:767–72.
- Upton J, Madoc-Sutton H, Sheikh A, Frank TL, Walker S, Fletcher M. National survey on the roles and training of primary care respiratory nurses in the UK in 2006: are we making progress? *Prim Care Resp J* 2007;**16**:284-90. http://dx.doi.org/10.3132/pcrj.2007.00068
- Hazeldine M, Worth A, Levy ML, Sheikh A. 2009 Follow-up survey of GPs' perceptions of UK allergy services. *Prim Care Resp J* 2010;19:84-6. http://dx.doi.org/10.4104/pcri.2010.00002
- 78. Levy ML, Stephenson P, Barritt P, et al. The UK General Practice Airways Group (GPIAG): its formation, development, and influence on the management of asthma and other respiratory diseases over the last twenty years. *Prim Care Resp J* 2007; **16**:132-9. http://dx.doi.org/10.3132/pcrj.2007.00042
- Sheikh A, Major P, Holgate S. Developing consensus on national respiratory research priorities: Key findings from the UK Respiratory Research Collaborative's e-Delphi exercise. Resp Med 2008;102:1089-92. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2008.03.006
- Pinnock H, Sheikh A. Primary care research and clinical practice: respiratory disease. Postgrad Med J 2009;85:74-9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ pqmj.2008.068379
- 81. Pinnock H, Netuveli G, Price D, Sheikh A. General Practitioners with a Special

### Copyright PCRS-UK - reproduction prohibited

#### A Worth et al.

- Interest in respiratory medicine: national survey of primary care organisations. BMC Health Services Research 2005;**5**:40. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-5-40
- 82. Hamilton S, Huby G, Tierney A, *et al.* Mind the gap between policy imperatives and service provision: a qualitative study of the process of respiratory service development in England and Wales. *BMC Health Services Research* 2008;**8**: 248. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-8-248
- 83. Gilbert R, Franks G, Watkin S. The proportion of general practitioner referrals to a hospital Respiratory Medicine clinic suitable to be seen in a GPwSI respiratory clinic. *Prim Care Resp J* 2005;**14**:314-19. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pcrj.2005.04.006
- Levy ML, Walker S, Woods A, Sheikh A. Service evaluation of a UK primary care-based allergy clinic: quality improvement report. *Prim Care Resp J* 2009; 18:313-19. http://dx.doi.org/10.4104/pcrj.2009.00042
- 85. Department of Health. Implementing care closer to home: Convenient quality

- care for patients. London: The Stationery Office, 2007.
- 86. Department of Health. Choose & Book Patient's Choice of Hospital and Booked Appointment. London: The Stationery Office, 2004.
- 87. National Health Service. Welcome to Choose and Book. http://www.chooseandbook.nhs.uk/
- 88. British Medical Association. Choose and Book Learning Lessons from Local Experience. London: BMA, 2009.
- Royal College of Physicians of London, British Thoracic Society, British Lung Foundation. Report of The National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Audit 2008, UK Primary Care Organisations: Resources and Organisation of Care. London: RCP, 2008.
- Pinnock H, Huby G, Tierney A, et al. Is multi-disciplinary teamwork the key? A
  qualitative study of the development of respiratory services in the UK. J R Soc
  Med 2009;102:378-90. http://dx.doi.org/10.1258/jrsm.2009.080356

Available online at http://www.thepcrj.org